Before the

Administrative Hearing Commission

State of Missouri

MISSOURI REAL ESTATE COMMISSION,
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No. 02-0176 RE




)

SHANE C. EDGAR,

)




)



Respondent.
)

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER


On February 5, 2002, the Missouri Real Estate Commission (MREC) filed a complaint alleging that there is cause to discipline Shane C. Edgar’s real estate license because he pleaded guilty to conspiracy to distribute and possess with intent to distribute a Schedule I narcotic controlled substance, and because his conduct would be cause to refuse to issue him a license.


On June 3, 2002, the MREC filed a motion for summary determination with supporting exhibits.  Our Regulation 1 CSR 15-2.450(4)(C) provides that we may decide this case without a hearing if the MREC establishes facts that (a) Edgar does not dispute and (b) entitle the MREC to a favorable decision.  ITT Commercial Fin. Corp. v. Mid-Am. Marine Supply Corp., 854 S.W.2d 371, 380-82 (Mo. banc 1993).


We gave Edgar until June 25, 2002, to respond to the motion, but he did not respond.  Edgar has admitted the conduct and guilty plea in his answer and in his response to the MREC’s request for admissions.

Findings of Fact

1. Edgar holds a real estate salesperson license, No. 1999144056.  This license is, and was at all relevant times, current and active.

2. Between January 1, 1999, and October 25, 2000, Edgar knowingly and intentionally joined with others to conspire to distribute and possess with the intent to distribute methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA), a Schedule I narcotic controlled substance.

3. On February 23, 2001, in the Eastern District of the United States District Court, Edgar entered a plea of guilty to one felony count of conspiracy to distribute and possess with intent to distribute MDMA pursuant to 21 USC § 841 (a)(1) and §  846.  No. 4:00CR00519DJS.

4. On May 11, 2001, Edgar was sentenced to 21 months imprisonment, followed by three years of supervised probation. 

Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear the MREC’s complaint.  Section 339.100.2
 and 621.045. The MREC has the burden of proving that Edgar has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.  Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).


The MREC argues that there is cause to discipline Edgar’s license under section 339.100.2, which states:


2.  The commission may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by law when the commission believes there is a probability that a licensee has performed or attempted to perform any of the following acts:

*   *   *


(15) Committing any act which would otherwise be grounds for the commission to refuse to issue a license under section 339.040;

*   *   *


(17) Been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of this state or any other state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated under this chapter, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed[.]


Edgar entered a guilty plea to conspiracy to distribute and possess with intent to distribute a Schedule I narcotic controlled substance in violation of the following:

21 USC § 841, which states:

(a) Unlawful acts

Except as authorized by this subchapter, it shall be unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally –

(1) to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, or possess with intent to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, a controlled substance[.]

and 21 USC § 846, which states:

Any person who attempts or conspires to commit any offense defined in this subchapter shall be subject to the same penalties as those prescribed for the offense, the commission of which was the object of the attempt or conspiracy.


Edgar’s guilty plea is evidence of the conduct charged.  Mandacina v. Liquor Control Bd. of Review, 599 S.W.2d 240, 243 (Mo. App., W.D. 1980).  His plea constitutes a declaration against interest, which may be explained away.  Nichols v. Blake, 418 S.W.2d 188, 190 (Mo. 1967).  In his answer and response to the MREC’s request for admissions, Edgar has admitted his conduct and guilty plea.

Subdivision (15) – Cause to Refuse to Issue a License


The MREC argues that Edgar’s conduct and guilty plea constitute grounds to discipline his license under subdivision 339.100.2(15) because they would be reason to refuse to grant him a license under section 339.040, which states:


1.  Licenses shall be granted only to persons who present, and corporations, associations or partnerships whose officers, associates, or partners present, satisfactory proof to the commission that they:


(1) Are persons of good moral character; and


(2) Bear a good reputation for honesty, integrity, and fair dealing[.]

Good moral character is honesty, fairness, and respect for the law and the rights of others.  State ex rel. McAvoy v. Louisiana St. Bd. of Med. Examiners, 115 So.2d 833, 839 n.2 (La. 1959); Florida Bd. of Bar Examiners Re:  G.W.L., 364 So.2d 454, 458 (Fla. 1978).


Edgar engaged in a conspiracy to possess and distribute a controlled substance and pleaded guilty to this.  He argues that this does not represent the whole of his character.  He has provided letters of character reference recommending leniency.  However, we find that his recent conduct and conviction evidence a lack of good moral character and a lack of a good reputation for honesty, integrity, and fair dealing.


Because the MREC could decide under the law not to issue Edgar a license under section 339.040.1(1) and (2), we find cause to discipline Edgar’s license under 339.100.2(15).

Subdivision (17) – Guilty Plea


The MREC argues that Edgar’s license is subject to discipline because he pleaded guilty to a crime reasonably related to his profession and involving moral turpitude.


Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”

In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W. 2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).  


Narcotics offenses are crimes involving moral turpitude.  Berger, 764 S.W.2d at 709.  Drug possession and distribution are offenses reasonably related to the qualifications of a real estate salesperson, in that such person must be of good moral character.  We find that Edgar’s guilty plea to conspiracy to distribute and possess with intent to distribute MDMA is cause for discipline under subdivision (17).

Level of Discipline


In his answer, Edgar asks this Commission to allow him to retain his real estate license because his involvement with drugs was an isolated instance that does not determine his character.  He argues that he has accepted full responsibility for his actions and has entered a drug abuse treatment program.  He asks that his license be placed on probation rather than revoked.


Under Missouri law, the Administrative Hearing Commission determines whether the law authorizes discipline of a license under the facts in a particular case.  We have made that determination in this case, finding that the law authorizes discipline of Edgar’s license for his conduct and guilty plea.  At this point, the case returns to the MREC, where the decision will be made as to the level of discipline to be imposed.  Edgar should make these arguments to that agency.

Summary


We find cause to discipline Edgar’s license under section 339.100.2(15) and (17).  We cancel the hearing.


SO ORDERED on July 12, 2002.



________________________________



WILLARD C. REINE



Commissioner

	�Statutory references, unless otherwise noted, are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri.
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